#### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The circuit court erred in not upholding the DMV's *Order of Revocation* for Mr. Slye's refusal to take the designated secondary chemical test.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On May 23, 2018, Deputy B. Frick of the Berkeley County Sheriff's Department ("Investigating Officer") was dispatched to 91 Rutherford Lane, Bunker Hill, West Virginia, by Berkeley County Central Dispatch in response to a call reporting a male subject asleep behind the wheel of a motor vehicle and blocking the resident's driveway. (App¹. at P. 191.) Upon arrival, the Investigating Officer observed a white GMC Sierra belonging to Mr. Slye, the Respondent herein, parked in the middle of Rutherford Lane. (App. at PP. 179, 191.) Mr. Slye was sleeping and snoring behind the wheel with the keys in the ignition and the engine running. (App. at P. 191.) The Investigating Officer woke Mr. Slye who was confused, drowsy, and disoriented and smelled strongly of an alcoholic beverage. (App. at PP. 179, 191.) Mr. Slye admitted that he had been heavily drinking Fireball whiskey. *Id.* He had slurred speech. *Id.* 

Mr. Slye refused to take the standardized field sobriety tests and the preliminary breath test. (App. at PP. 180-181, 191.) The Investigating Officer arrested Mr. Slye for driving under the influence ("DUI") and transported him to the Berkeley County Sheriff's Department for processing and administration of the secondary chemical test ("SCT.") (App. at P. 191.) The Investigating Officer checked the box on the DUI Information Sheet which states that "implied consent read and provided to the subject." (App. at P. 181.) Mr. Slye refused to sign the form and to take the designated SCT. (App. at PP. 181-182, 191, 243.)

On June 19, 2018, the Division of Motor Vehicles ("DMV") sent Mr. Slye orders of

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> App. refers to the Appendix filed contemporaneously with the instant brief.

revocation for DUI and refusing the SCT ("refusal.") (App. at PP. 53-54.) On July 10, 2018, the Office of Administrative Hearings ("OAH") received Mr. Slye's Written Objection and Hearing Request Form on which he asked for an administrative hearing "on the grounds of lack of probable cause for stop, arrest, to administer preliminary breath test, intoxilyzer, incorrect administration of field sobriety tests and inability to lay proper foundation for admission of intoxilyzer results." (App. at P. 50.) Although Mr. Slye included the file number of the Order of Revocation for refusal, he did not check the box on the hearing request form alleging that he was challenging "the allegation that [he] refused to submit to the designated secondary chemical test." (App. at P. 49.) In the written statement attached to the hearing request form, Mr. Slye did not contest that he refused the SCT or that he was not read or provided with a copy of the West Virginia Implied Consent Statement. (App. at P. 50.)

On May 15, 2019, at the administrative hearing, the OAH admitted the DUI Information Sheet and Implied Consent Statement into evidence at the administrative hearing without objection. (App. at PP. 232, 239.) The Investigating Officer testified on direct examination that he "read him the Implied Consent. . . I just read the Implied Consent to him and then I observed him for 20 minutes. And then he refused to sign the Implied Consent." (App. at P. 243.) On cross examination, when asked if he actually gave Mr. Slye a copy of the West Virginia Implied Consent Statement, the Investigating Officer testified, "I did not, sir." (App. at P. 248.)

On September 10, 2019, the OAH upheld the license revocation for DUI but reversed the license revocation for refusal (App. at PP. 193-198) although Mr. Slye did not contest the same on his hearing request form. On October 7, 2019, the DMV appealed the part of the order regarding the refusal to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. (App. at PP. 23-41.) On August 25, 2020, the circuit

court entered a *Final Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review*. (App. at PP. 2-7.) The circuit court concluded that the OAH's "factual finding that [Mr. Slye] was not provided with a physical copy of the Implied Consent Statement is eminently reasonable. The undisputed facts in this matter indicate that the Implied Consent Statement was read and explained to [Mr. Slye.] Similarly, the OAH's interpretation of the plain language, statutory mandate of § 17C-5-7 requiring the arresting officer provide an oral and written notice to the arrestee, is also reasonable." (App. at P. 6.) The circuit court further found that the "OAH's ruling that [Mr. Slye]'s 'refusal' did not satisfy the statutory requirements for a refusal under § 17C-5-7 cannot be 'clearly wrong' or an error of law. [DMV]'s argument that this Court should employ a totality of the circumstances test to determine whether the arresting officer's actions were in compliance with the purpose and spirit of the statute, when [DMV] admits it did not comply with the clear terms of the statute is unavailing." (App. at PP. 6-7.)

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

On the night of Mr. Slye's arrest, the Investigating Officer checked the box on the DUI Information Sheet which states that "implied consent read and provided to the subject." Mr. Slye failed to contest the allegation of refusal when he filed his appeal of the DUI with the OAH. At the administrative hearing, the OAH admitted the DUI Information Sheet into evidence without objection. The Investigating Officer testified on direct examination that he read the Implied Consent Statement to Mr. Slye and that Mr. Slye refused to sign the same. The Investigating Officer testified on cross examination that he did not give Mr. Slye a copy of the West Virginia Implied Consent Statement.

By asking Mr. Slye to sign the Implied Consent Statement, the Investigating Officer was

giving Mr. Slye the opportunity to read the statement for himself, but Mr. Slye refused. That is all that is required of W. Va. Code § 17C-5-7(a) (2013). The officer is required to read the statement aloud in case the driver is illiterate or cannot see the printed page and is required to let the driver read the statement for himself in case the driver is deaf or has auditory comprehension issues. The statute does not require the Investigating Officer to force the driver to read the statement, to force the driver to sign the statement to demonstrate that it was in his possession, or to provide the driver a souvenir copy of the statement to take home with him.

It is clear that the Investigating Officer complied with the mandatory requirements of W. Va. Code § 17C-5-7(a) (2013), that Mr. Slye refused to read or sign the Implied Consent Statement, and that the OAH and the Circuit Court misinterpreted the elements of the statute.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Argument pursuant to Rev. R. App. Pro. 19 (2010) is appropriate on the bases that this case involves an assignment of error in the application of settled law and a narrow issue of law.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review

"On appeal of an administrative order from a circuit court, this Court is bound by the statutory standards contained in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(a) and reviews questions of law presented *de novo*; findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong. *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W. Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996)." Syllabus Point 1, *Reed v. Pompeo*, 240 W. Va. 255, 810 S.E.2d 66 (2018).

- B. The circuit court erred in not upholding the DMV's *Order of Revocation* for Mr. Slye's refusal to take the designated secondary chemical test.
  - 1. The issue of refusal was not properly before the OAH.

On his hearing request form, Mr. Slye failed to challenge that he "refused to submit to the designated secondary chemical test." (App. at PP. 49-50.) Further, Mr. Slye failed to testify at the very hearing which he requested (App. at P. 234); therefore, he did not assert later under oath that he was not given the opportunity to read the Implied Consent Statement. Accordingly, the issue of refusal was never before the OAH, and it sandbagged the administrative process by *sua sponte* creating the issue of refusal when it is unrebutted that the Investigating Officer asked Mr. Slye to sign, and therefore to read, the Implied Consent Statement but he refused to do so.

The OAH lacked jurisdiction to hear an uncontested issue at the administrative hearing. In *Reed v. Thompson*, 235 W. Va. 211, 772 S.E.2d 617 (2015), this Court opined, "[i]n 2010, the Legislature created the OAH and gave it power to hear appeals of certain orders and decisions by the DMV. W. Va. Code § 17C-5C-1 [2010]. The OAH is authorized to conduct hearings over these matters consistent with the statutory provisions in chapters 29A ('State Administrative Procedure Act'), 17B, and 17C of the West Virginia Code. W. Va. Code § 17C-5C-4 [2010.]" 235 W. Va. 211, 214, 772 S.E.2d 617, 620.

The OAH adopted administrative rules as it was authorized to do by W. Va. Code § 17C-5C-4a (2012). See W. Va. Code R. § 105–1–1 (2013) (setting July 1, 2013, as effective date of OAH's administrative rules<sup>2</sup>). The administrative rules contain no provision for hearing uncontested matters in contravention to W. Va. Code § 29A-5 et seq. (1964), which outlines the procedures for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The 2016 version of W. Va. Code R. § 105-1 is applicable to Mr. Slye's case.

"Contested Cases." To contest means "[t]o assert a defense to an adverse claim in a court proceeding. To oppose, resist, or dispute the case made by a plaintiff or prosecutor. To strive to win or hold. To controvert, litigate, call in question, challenge. To defend, as a suit or other proceeding." Black's Law Dictionary, 320 (6<sup>th</sup> ed. 1990).

This Court has held that an administrative agency may not exercise authority which is not given to it expressly or impliedly in statute.

Administrative agencies and their executive officers are creatures of statute and delegates of the Legislature. Their power is dependent upon statutes, so that they must find within the statute warrant for the exercise of any authority which they claim. They have no general or common-law powers but only such as have been conferred upon them by law expressly or by implication.

Syl. Pt. 2, Mountaineer Disposal Serv., Inc. v. Dyer, 156 W. Va. 766, 197 S.E.2d 111 (1973) (emphasis added). See also State ex rel. Hoover v. Berger, 199 W. Va. 12, 19, 483 S.E.2d 12, 19 (1996) ("An administrative agency ... has no greater authority than conferred under the governing statutes.").

Reed v. Thompson, 235 W. Va. 211, 214, 772 S.E.2d 617, 620 (2015).

An administrative agency's authority to hear an uncontested matter is not valid unless the agency was given the authority under a statute or administrative rule to do so. *See Mustard v. City of Bluefield*, 130 W. Va. 763, 766, 45 S.E.2d 326, 328 (1947) (holding that, in absence of specific authority in zoning ordinance or in statute upon which ordinance was based, a board of adjustment had no power to rehear and reconsider its final order). *Reed v. Thompson*, 235 W. Va. 211, 214–15, 772 S.E.2d 617, 620–21 (2015).

Whether an administrative agency has authority to hear an uncontested matter entails a two-part inquiry. See Atl. Greyhound Corp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 132 W. Va. 650, 659–61, 54 S.E.2d 169, 174–75 (1949). The first question is whether an agency's power to hear an uncontested matter

is expressly or impliedly granted by statute. *Id.* at 659–660, 54 S.E.2d at 175. If not, the second inquiry is whether the following two conditions are met: (a) the Legislature granted the agency authority to adopt administrative rules of procedure; and (b) the agency adopted an administrative rule allowing it to hear uncontested matters. *Id.* at 661, 54 S.E.2d 175. If an agency has authority to hear uncontested matters under an administrative rule (as opposed to a statute), the scope of the agency's authority is strictly limited to what is contained in the rule.

This Court has held, "[An administrative agency], by rule based upon a statute which empowers it to prescribe rules of practice and procedure and the method and the manner of holding hearings, has the authority to grant, within the time and in the manner provided by such rule, a rehearing of a final order entered by the commission in a proceeding of which it has jurisdiction." Syl. Pt. 1, *Atl. Greyhound Corp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n.*, 132 W. Va. 650, 54 S.E.2d 169 (emphasis added). The OAH's enabling statutes, W. Va. Code §§ 17C-5C-1 *et seq.* do not grant express statutory authority to hear an uncontested matter, and no other provision in the West Virginia Code authorizes the OAH to hear uncontested matters in violation of the clear language in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-1 (1964) *et seq.* 

Additionally, the OAH had no implied authority to hear an uncontested matter. In making this determination, an agency has only as much authority as is necessary to execute its duties. *Reed v. Thompson*, 235 W. Va. 211, 215, 772 S.E.2d 617, 621 (2015). Furthermore, "this Court must presume that the Legislature did not intend to confer upon the agency any greater authority than what is clearly indicated in statutory language." *Id*.

This Court has held:

Although an express grant of powers will be determined to include such other powers

as are necessarily or reasonably incident to the powers granted, the powers should not be extended by implication beyond what may be necessary for their just and reasonable execution. When a court is asked to find implied powers in a grant of legislative or executive authority it must assume that the lawmakers intended to place no greater restraint on the liberties of a citizen than was clearly and unmistakenly indicated by the language they used.

McDaniel v. W. Va. Div. of Labor, 214 W. Va. 719, 727, 591 S.E.2d 277, 285 (2003) (quoting Walter v. Richie, 156 W. Va. 98, 108, 191 S.E.2d. 275, 281 (1972)) (citation and quotations omitted) (emphasis added).

235 W. Va. 211, 215, 772 S.E.2d 617, 621.

There have been no statutes or Legislative Rules which grant the OAH express or implied authority to hear uncontested matters in contravention to the clear language of W. Va. Code § 29A-5-1 (1964) et seq. Therefore, Mr. Slye's failure to contest on his Written Objection and Hearing Request Form that he refused to submit to the SCT deprived the OAH of subject matter jurisdiction.

Finally, although the instant matter is a civil, administrative license revocation and not a criminal proceeding where a defendant's personal liberty is in jeopardy, this Court has addressed the issue of sandbagging in the criminal indictment process.

Rule 12(b)(2) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure requires that a defendant must raise any objection to an indictment prior to trial. Although a challenge to a defective indictment is never waived, this Court literally will construe an indictment in favor of validity where a defendant fails timely to challenge its sufficiency. . .

Syl. Pt. 1, *Miller*, 197 W. Va. at 592–93, 476 S.E.2d at 539–40. We explained the reason for this rule in *State v. Palmer*, 210 W. Va. 372, 376, 557 S.E.2d 779, 783 (2001):

The purpose behind this rule is to prevent a criminal defendant from 'sandbagging' or deliberately foregoing raising an objection to an indictment so that the issue may later be used as a means of obtaining a new trial following conviction. See 4 Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal Procedure § 19.1(d), at 741 (2d ed. 1999). The rule we announced in Miller now makes this stratagem extremely perilous.

State v. Chic-Colbert, 231 W. Va. 749, 758, 749 S.E.2d 642, 651 (2013) (per curiam).

If sandbagging is prohibited in areas of the criminal arena where a defendant can sit back and simply say, "prove your case," it should be prohibited in the context of civil cases, such as the case at bar. At no time did Mr. Slye dispute that he was provided the opportunity to read and sign the Implied Consent Statement prior to his refusal. Instead, the hearing examiner manufactured an issue not in dispute and sandbagged the administrative process. In turn, the circuit court improperly sanctioned the OAH's sandbagging.

#### 2. The circuit court misinterpreted W. Va. Code § 17C-5-7(a) (2013).

At the administrative hearing, it was unrebutted that the Investigating Officer read the Implied Consent Statement to Mr. Slye and tried to get Mr. Slye to sign the same, which he refused. Because Mr. Slye failed to testify at the very hearing which he requested, it is unrebutted that he refused to take the SCT. There was no dispute before or during the administrative hearing that Mr. Slye was read the Implied Consent Statement, given the opportunity to read and sign the statement, and that he refused to sign the document and to take the SCT. Instead, the hearing examiner manufactured an issue which was not in dispute and created a challenge where none existed. To compound the OAH's mistake, the circuit court erroneously concluded that the "OAH's factual finding that the Respondent was not provided with a physical copy of the Implied Consent Statement is eminently reasonable." (App. at P. 6.)

The facts of the instant matter are substantially similar to those in *Dale v. Reed*, No. 13-0429, 2014 WL 1407353 (W. Va. Apr. 10, 2014) (memorandum decision). There, "Deputy Paitsel read Ms. Reed the implied consent statement required by West Virginia Code § 17C-5-7(a) (2010) warning her that refusal to take a secondary chemical test would result in a revocation of her license for 45

days to life. The DUI Information Sheet completed by Deputy Paitsel indicated that he provided Ms. Reed a written copy of the implied consent statement as well<sup>3</sup>." Dale v. Reed at \*1. Ms. Reed refused the SCT. Id.

At the hearing before the OAH, Ms. Reed argued, *inter alia*, that the evidence presented by the DMV was insufficient to sustain the implied consent revocation because there was no evidence presented that Ms. Reed was given a written statement of the implied consent law. *Id.* With regard to the written copy of the implied consent statement, Ms. Reed argued that the deputy did not testify that he gave her a copy and that no copy of the written implied consent statement was in the DMV's file. *Id.* The OAH agreed that the absence of a file copy of the written implied consent statement, along with the absence of evidence that she understood the warning, warranted reversal of the implied consent revocation; the DUI revocation was affirmed. *Id.* The DMV appealed to the circuit court, and the court agreed with the OAH's rationale and affirmed the OAH's reversal of the one-year implied consent revocation. *Id.* 

In *Dale v. Reed*, this Court reminded the parties that W. Va. Code § 17C-5-7(a) provides for revocation of a driver's license for failure to submit to a secondary chemical test, in pertinent part as follows:

If any person under arrest as specified in section four [§ 17C-5-4] of this article refuses to submit to any secondary chemical test, the tests shall not be given: Provided, That prior to the refusal, the person is given an *oral warning and a written statement* advising him or her that his or her refusal to submit to the secondary test

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Court noted that "The DUI Information Sheet contains a check-marked box which states 'IMPLIED CONSENT READ AND COPY PROVIDED TO SUBJECT' (emphasis added). The DUI Information Sheet is signed by Deputy Paitsel and contains the following warning: "The signing of this statement constitutes an oath or affirmation that the statements are true and that any copy filed is a true copy. Be advised that to willfully sign a statement containing false information concerning any matter or thing material or not material is false swearing and is a misdemeanor." *Dale v. Reed* at \*1.

finally designated will result in the revocation of his or her license to operate a motor vehicle in this state for a period of at least forty-five days and up to life.... The officer shall, within forty-eight hours of the refusal, sign and submit to the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles a written statement of the officer that ... (4) the person was given a written statement advising him or her that his or her license to operate a motor vehicle in this state would be revoked for a period of at least forty-five days and up to life if he or she refused to submit to the secondary test finally designated in the manner provided in section four of this article.... Upon receiving the statement the commissioner shall make and enter an order revoking the person's license to operate a motor vehicle in this state for the period prescribed by this section.

(emphasis added).

#### Dale v. Reed at \*2.

This Court explained, "[a]s such, to sustain an 'implied consent' revocation, one of the requirements is that the officer provide oral and written warning that refusal to submit to the secondary chemical test will result in revocation. It is undisputed that the only evidence admitted in this case that Ms. Reed was given a written warning is the notation on the DUI Information Sheet that the implied consent form was "read and copy provided to subject. (emphasis added)." *Id.* This Court reiterated that "[u]nquestionably, however, the DUI Information Sheet is admissible, affirmative evidence of its contents . . ." pursuant to "Syl. Pt. 3, *Crouch v. W. Va. Div. of Motor Vehicles*, 219 W. Va. 70, 631 S.E.2d 628 (2006)." *Dale v. Reed* at \*2.

This Court opined that Ms. Reed did not contend, nor did the OAH or circuit court conclude, that the DUI Information Sheet was not admissible; rather, both apparently took the position that Deputy Paitsel's live testimony—which was silent on whether he gave Ms. Reed a written copy of the implied consent statement—was of greater value than the documentary evidence which affirmatively indicated that Ms. Reed was provided a copy. *Id.* at \*3. This Court pointed out that under similar circumstances, it has admonished a lower court for demonstrating a preference for

testimonial evidence over documentary evidence when "our law recognizes no such distinction in the context of drivers' license revocation proceedings. *Groves v. Cicchirillo*, 225 W. Va. 474, 481, 694 S.E.2d 639, 646 (2010)." *Dale v. Reed* at \*3. This Court also acknowledged the fact that although the DUI Information Sheet was admissible, its contents were not precluded from being challenged during the hearing. Rather, the admission of such a document into evidence merely creates a rebuttable presumption as to its accuracy. *See, Crouch*, 219 W. Va. at 76 n. 12, 631 S.E.2d at 634 n. 12. *Dale v. Reed* at \*3.

Finally, this Court held that "to the extent that Ms. Reed contends that she sufficiently 'challenged' the DUI Information Sheet on the issue of being given a written implied consent statement, her evidence is lacking. As noted above, Ms. Reed did not testify, nor was there any other affirmative evidence, that she was not given a written implied consent statement to contradict the DUI Information Sheet. *See Lilly v. Stump*, 217 W. Va. 313, 319, 617 S.E.2d 860, 866 (2005) (reversing circuit court's reversal of license revocation where there was "no testimony in conflict with the officer" regarding provision of implied consent form to driver); *Dale v. Odum and Doyle*, [233 W. Va. 601, 760 S.E.2d 415] (reversing circuit court's reversal of license revocation where driver failed to rebut evidence contained solely in DUI Information Sheet)." *Dale v. Reed*, at \*3.

Rather, all Ms. Reed's counsel established was that there was no copy of the statement Deputy Paitsel gave Ms. Reed in the DMV's administrative file. *Dale v. Reed*, at \*3. "However, the statute does not require that a copy of the written statement be admitted into evidence; this argument has previously been rejected by this Court. *See Gibbs v. Bechtold*, 180 W. Va. 216, 219, 376 S.E.2d 110, 113 (1988) ('Ms. Gibbs also asserts that the record does not support the administrative decision because the Implied Consent form was never offered or admitted into evidence during the

administrative hearing. We find no merit in this argument. The record contained sufficient probative evidence from which the Commissioner could conclude that the form had been read to Ms. Gibbs.')." Dale v. Reed, at \*3. This Court then held that the circuit court's conclusion that there was insufficient evidence to establish that Ms. Reed was given a written copy of the implied consent warning was clearly wrong. Id.

In the instant matter, the OAH found as fact that "[e]vn though page 4 of the West Virginia DUI Information Sheet has the block for "Implied Consent Read and Provided to the Subject" filled in, the Investigating Officer testified that he did not give [Mr. Slye] a copy of the Implied Consent Statement." (App. at P. 195.) The OAH is correct, the Investigating Officer did not give Mr. Slye a souvenir copy of the form to take with home with him after he refused to take the designed SCT. Instead, the Investigating Officer testified on direct examination that he "read him the Implied Consent. . . I just read the Implied Consent to him and then I observed him for 20 minutes. And then he refused to sign the Implied Consent." (App. at P. 243.) On cross examination, when asked if he actually gave Mr. Slye a copy of the West Virginia Implied Consent Statement, the Investigating Officer testified, "I did not, sir." (App. at P. 248.)

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