DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 20-0746

EVERETT J. FRAZIER, COMMISSIONER, WEST VIRGINIA DIVISION OF MOTOR VEHICLES,



Petitioner,

v.

Appeal From a Final Order Of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (Case No. 19-AA-123)

JOSEPH SLYE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JOSEPH SLYE

Counsel for Petitioner
B. Craig Manford, Esq.
W.Va. Bar No. 2307
P.O. Box 3021
Martinsburg, West Virginia 25402
(304) 263-5698
byronman@aol.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Petitioner, Everett J. Frazier, Commissioner, West Virginia Division of Motor Vehicles, advances one assignment of error with two sub-parts. Pursuant to Rule 10(d) of the West Virginia Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure, the assignment of error is not restated here but will be addressed below.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner correctly and accurately sets for the factual and procedural history of the case and the Respondent adopts the same.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Any claim by the Petitioner that the OAH lacked jurisdiction to hear the matter involving whether or not the Respondent failed to contest the issue of refusal on his Written Objection and Hearing Request Form (A.R. 120) has been waived by the Petitioner when he presented both documentary and testimonial evidence on the issue at the administrative hearing not realizing that the arresting officer had not complied with the statute in question, W.Va. Code §17C-5-7(a). Additionally, the Circuit Court did not misinterpret W.Va. Code §17C-5-7(a) but pursuant to the overwhelming case law of the State, but applied the clear and unambiguous statute to the facts of the case.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the West Virginia Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. This case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"On appeal of an administrative [decision] ... findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong. Syllabus Point 2 (in part), *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996)." Likewise, "[e]videntiary findings made at an administrative hearing should not be reversed unless they are clearly wrong." Syllabus Point 1, *Francis O. Day Co., v. Director, Div. of Envtl. Prot.*, 191 W.Va. 134, 443 S.E.2d 602 (1994). Cited in *Lowe v. Cicchirillo*, 223 W.Va. 175, 179, 672 S.E.2d 311, 315 (2008) (per curiam).

"In reviewing the judgment of the lower court this Court does not accord special weight to the lower court's conclusions of law, and will reverse the judgment below when it is based on an incorrect conclusion of law." Syllabus Point 1, *Burks v. McNeel*, 164 W.Va. 654, 264 S.E.2d 651 (1980). Syllabus, *Bolton v. Bechtold*, 178 W.Va. 556, 363 S.E.2d 241 (1987). Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. Saunders*, 184 W.Va. 55, 399 S.E.2d 455 (1990). "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

Respondent's Arguments in Opposition to Petitioner's Assignments of Error

- B. The Circuit Court committed no error in not Upholding the DMV's Order of Revocation for Mr. Slye's Refusal to Take the Designated Secondary Chemical Test
 - 1. The Petitioner waived any argument that the issue of refusal was not properly before the OAH by presenting documentary evidence and testimony on the issue at the administrative hearing which lead to the previously unknown fact that the arresting officer failed to comply with the provisions of W.Va. Code §17C-5-

7(a) as his documentation from the traffic stop was incomplete and misleading.

This issue is presented for the first time on appeal before this Court and therefore must be jurisdictional in nature for this Court to consider it. *Noble v. West Virginia DMV*, 223 W.Va. 818, 679 S.E.2d 650 (2009). *See:* Brief of the Department of Motor Vehicles before the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. (A.R. 15). The DMV has waived its right to argue that the OAH lacked jurisdiction because it presented documentary evidence and the testimony of the arresting officer on the very issue of refusal at the administrative hearing.

According to the Petitioner's argument, the Commissioner did not need even present any evidence on the issue of refusal at the administrative hearing because the Respondent allegedly failed to give notice that he contested the allegation that he refused the designated secondary chemical test. The Petitioner claims that by not checking the correct box on the Request for Hearing Form but nevertheless referencing both the DUI case and the Refusal case, i.e., DMV File Nos. 402481-A/B the Respondent conceded the issue and failed to put it in contest. Therefore, the DMV invited the error it now claims to have occurred. The argument is a red herring, circular and without merit.

The Petitioner moved for admission of three key documents contained within its files under W.Va. Code §29A-5-2(b) to-wit: Form #314 West Virginia DUI Information Sheet, (A.R. 178); West Virginia Implied Consent Statement, (A.R. 182); and the Arresting Officer's Criminal Complaint (A.R. 191). On page 4 of the Form #314 (A.R. 181) it is noted that the Respondent refused the secondary chemical test. The Implied Consent Statement notes the Respondent refused to sign the form. The Criminal Complaint recites that once in custody and transported to the Sheriff's Department, the arresting officer waited twenty (20) minutes and asked the Respondent if he would submit to the designated secondary chemical test of his breath, "in which he refused."

(A.R. 191). Nowhere in these documents is there any indication that the arresting officer actually complied with the requirements of W.Va. Code §17C-5-7(a). The Petitioner thus presented the testimony of the arresting officer on the issue to clarify compliance with said statute.

Direct Examination by Mr. Thornton:

- Q: Okay. Now, after which point, we know from the record, that you took him back to the station. What happened once you got him there?
- A: Well, I read him the Implied Consent. You know, I explained - I just read the Implied Consent to him and then I observed him for 20 minutes. And then he refused to sign the Implied Consent. . . .

(A.R. 243).

Cross Examination by Mr. Manford

- Q: Okay. On the Implied Consent, did you actually read the Implied Consent Law to him? You know, I'm now asking your to take the designated Secondary Chemical Test. Blah, blah, blah. All that stuff?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Okay. And did you actually give him a copy?
- A: I did not, sir.
- Q: You did not?
- A: No, sir.
- (A.R. 248).

Of course the arresting officer had not complied with the statute by admitting on cross-examination that he failed to provide the Respondent with a copy of the Implied Consent form to

review during the 20 minute wait period before his continued refusal would be final. More importantly, the Petitioner failed to object to the question posed to the arresting officer at the administrative hearing from Respondent's counsel: "Okay. And did you actually give him a copy [Implied Consent Form]?" "No Sir." (A.R. 248). The Petitioner raised the issue to which it now claims the OAH had no jurisdiction to hear in the first place.

W.Va. Code §17C-5-7(a) provides in pertinent part:

If any person under arrest as specified in section four of this article refuses to submit to any secondary chemical test, the tests shall not be given: *Provided*, That prior to the refusal, the person is given an oral warning *and a written statement* advising him or her that his or her refusal to submit to the secondary test finally designated will result in the revocation of his or her license to operate a motor vehicle in this state for a period of at least forty-five days and up to life; and that after fifteen minutes following the warnings the refusal is considered final. The arresting officer after that period of time expires has no further duty to provide the person with an opportunity to take the secondary test.

Emphasis added.

The DMV was seeking to enhance the Respondent's suspension/revocation for refusing to submit to the designated secondary chemical test, to-wit, the EC/IR II intoxilyzer. The DMV had the burden to present evidence on the issue. The DMV waived any argument it might have had on this issue by presenting evidence on the issue of refusal at the administrative hearing. Obviously, the DMV did not know that the arresting officer had failed to provide the Petitioner with a copy of the Implied Consent Statement as required by W.Va. Code §17C-5-7(a).

2. The Circuit Court did not Misinterpret West Virginia Code §17C-5-7(a).

In a very recent case, *State v. Mills*, 844 S.E.2d 99, 108 (2020), this Court set forth all relevant case law regarding the prohibition to interpret unambiguous statutory law. "A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be

interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect." Syllabus Point 2, *State v. Epperly*, 135 W.Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951). "Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no basis for application of rules of statutory construction; but courts must apply the statute according to the legislative intent plainly expressed therein." Syllabus Point 1, *Dunlap v. State Compensation Director*, 149 W.Va. 266, 140 S.E.2d 448 (1965). "Courts always endeavor to give effect to the legislative intent, but a statute that is clear and unambiguous will be applied and not construed." Syllabus Point 1, *State v. Elder*, 152 W.Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). "Where the language of a statute is free from ambiguity, its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation." Syllabus Point 2, *Crockett v. Andrews*, 153 W.Va. 714, 172 S.E.2d 384 (1970). "We look first to the statute's language. If the text, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed." *Appalachian Power Co. V. State Tax Dep't of West Virginia*, 195 W.Va. 573, 587, 466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995). *Id.*, at pg. 108.

W.Va. Code §17C-5-7(a) is plain and unambiguous in its directive that prior to the refusal the person must be given both an oral warning *and a written statement* advising him or her that his or her refusal to submit to the secondary test finally designated will result in the revocation of his or her driver's license.

The undisputed evidence in the case is that the arresting officer did not provide the Respondent with a written statement (i.e. the Implied Consent Statement) as required by the statute. The statute's meaning and mandate is plain and clear, not subject to judicial interpretation as argued by the Petitioner. The Circuit Court of Kanawha County clearly and painfully addressed the issue in its Order of August 24, 2020 (A.R. pgs. 6 - 7):

- "6. The arresting officer failed to comply with W.Va. Code §17C-5-7's mandate when he did not provide the Respondent with a written copy of the Implied Consent Statement, and Petitioner provides no facts or legal reasoning to remediate the failure. Thus, OAH's ruling that the Respondent's "refusal" did not satisfy the statutory requirements for a refusal under §17C-5-7 cannot be "clearly wrong" or an error of law. Petitioner's argument that this Court should employ a totality of the circumstances test to determine whether the arresting officer's actions were in compliance with the purpose and spirit of the statute, when Petitioner admits it did not comply with the clear terms of the statute, is unavailing.
- 7. It gives this Court no pleasure to affirm the OAH's ruling specifically in a matter where the Respondent was so clearly under the influence and so clearly refused to comply with any officer requests. However, the clear, plain language of the applicable statute, the manner in which courts are required to interpret the will of the Legislature through its written word, and the testimony of the arresting officer, gives this Court little alternative."

Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not misinterpret but applied the clear and unambiguous language of W.Va. Code §17C-5-7(a) as required by law.

VI. CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Respondent, Joseph Slye, argues that the Petitioner's lone assignment of error is meritless and that this Court should affirm the Final Order entered by the Circuit Court of Kanawha County on the 25th day of August, 2020, and for such other relief as the Court may deem just, necessary and proper.